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I. STATEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 1304(i) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 Code of 
Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-1 (2015), this Interim Decision denies in part and grants in 

1. part Rasier, LLC’s (Rasier or Respondent) Petition for Declaratory Order, filed on March 23, 2018.
  

A. Procedural History.

2. Rasier is a Transportation Network Company (TNC) regulated by the Commission pursuant to §§ 40-10.1-601 et seq., C.R.S., and Rules 6700 et seq. of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 CCR 723-6 (2016).

3. The procedural histories of Proceeding Nos. 17G-0783TNC and 18G-0018TNC are set forth in Decisions previously issued in these Proceedings.  Procedural histories are repeated here as necessary to put this Interim Decision into context.

4. Proceeding No. 17G-0783TNC commenced on November 20, 2017 when the Staff of the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado (Staff) issued Civil Penalty Assessment or Notice of Complaint to Appear (CPAN) No. 119221 to Rasier.  Proceeding No. 18G-0018TNC commenced on January 2, 2018 when Staff issued CPAN No. 120466 
to Rasier.  Each CPAN became a complaint to appear before the Commission when Rasier failed 
to pay the prescribed civil penalty within ten days after the issuance of the CPANs.  See 
§ 40-7-116(1)(d)(I), C.R.S.  
5. Rasier and Staff are the only Parties to this proceeding. 

6. Decision No. R18-0102-I (mailed on February 9, 2018) consolidated Proceeding Nos. 17G-0783TNC and 18G-0018TNC, pursuant to Rule 1402 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1. 

7. A procedural schedule was adopted and hearing dates were set in Decision No. R18-0166-I (mailed on March 7, 2018).  The procedural schedule was modified slightly by Decision No. R18-01202-I (mailed on March 21, 2018).  No later than October 19, 2018, Staff must file its witness list, detailed summaries of witness testimonies, and copies of exhibits to be offered into evidence at the hearing.  No later than October 29, 2018, Rasier must file its witness list, detailed summaries of witness testimonies, and copies of exhibits to be offered into evidence.  The evidentiary hearing was scheduled for 11 days commencing on December 6, 2018.
8. Decision No. R18-0312-I (mailed on May 3, 2018) granted a Joint Stipulated Motion to Dismiss Specific Violations from CPAN 119221 and Waive Response Time (Stipulated Motion to Dismiss) filed by Staff and Rasier on March 23, 2018, and dismissed without prejudice a total of 1,788 violations cited in CPAN No. 119221.  

9. Pursuant to Decision No. R18-0312-I, and an extension granted in Decision No. R18-0383-I (mailed on May 25, 2018), Staff filed on May 31, 2018 an Amended 
CPAN No. 119221 in this Proceeding that:  (1) removes the 1,788 Counts that were dismissed and that recalculates the amounts of the civil penalties sought to be assessed for each remaining Count and in total for the CPAN; and (2) that restates the Nature of the Violation for 537 Counts in CPAN No. 119221 to include both Rules 6711 and 6712, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6 of the Commission’s Rules Regulations Transportation by Motor Vehicle.  

10. Pursuant to the adopted procedural schedule, on March 23, 2018, Rasier filed “Rasier’s Petition for Declaratory Order” (Petition).  On April 13, 2018, Staff filed “Staff’s Response to Rasier, LLC’s Petition for Declaratory Order” (Staff’s Response).  On April 27, 2018, Rasier filed “Rasier, LLC’s Reply in Support of Petition for Declaratory Order” (Rasier’s Reply).  The ALJ heard oral argument on Rasier’s Petition on May 8, 2018, as scheduled.  
11. In Decision No. R18-0512-I (mailed on June 25, 2018), the ALJ granted Staff and Rasier’s Joint Unopposed Motion to Clarify and Extend Written Discovery Deadlines.  The Decision modified the adopted procedural schedule to extend the deadline for service of written discovery requests (e.g., Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Requests for Admissions) until July 16, 2018, and the cut-off date for discovery responses to August 20, 2018.  
12. In rendering this Interim Decision the ALJ has considered all arguments and authorities presented by Raiser and Staff in their pleadings and in the oral argument, including those arguments and authorities not specifically addressed in this Decision.  To the extent that specific arguments are not discussed in this Decision, they are rejected.  The ALJ also has been mindful of relevant Colorado statutes, Colorado constitutional law, Colorado case law interpreting the regulatory authority of the Commission, and Commission decisions.  
II. APPLICABLE COLORADO LAW.

13. Article XXV of the Colorado Constitution provides that:  

In addition to the powers now vested in the General Assembly of the State of Colorado, all power to regulate the facilities, service and rates and charges therefor, including facilities and service and rates and charges therefor within home rule cities and home rule towns, of every corporation, individual, or association of individuals, wheresoever situate or operating within the State of Colorado, whether within or without a home rule city or home rule town, as a public utility, as presently or as may hereafter be defined as a public utility by the laws of the State of Colorado, is hereby vested in such agency of the State of Colorado as the General Assembly shall by law designate.
Until such time as the General Assembly may otherwise designate, said authority shall be vested in the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado; provided however, nothing herein shall affect the power of municipalities to exercise reasonable police and licensing powers, nor their power to grant 

franchises; and provided, further, that nothing herein shall be construed to apply to municipally owned utilities.

(Emphasis added.)

14. As relevant to this Proceeding, Colorado statutes define “public utility” in 
§ 40-1-103, C.R.S., as:

(1)(a)(I) The term “public utility,” when used in articles 1 to 7 of this title, includes every common carrier … and every corporation, or person declared by law to be affected with a public interest, and each of the preceding is hereby declared to be a public utility and to be subject to the jurisdiction, control, and regulation of the commission and to the provisions of articles 1 to 7 of this title. 

***

(3)  For the purposes of articles 1 to 7 of this title, a motor carrier that provides transportation not subject to regulation pursuant to section 40-10.1-105 or that is subject to part 3, 4, or 5 of article 10.1 of this title is not a public utility.
(Emphasis added.)

15. Senate Bill 14-125 was passed by the General Assembly on May 15, 2014, and it was signed by the Governor and became law effective on June 5, 2014.  Senate Bill 14-125 added Part 6 to Article 10.1 of Title 40, codified at § 40-10.1-601 et seq., C.R.S. (the TNC Act).  

16. Section 2 of Senate Bill 14-125 amended § 40-7-112(1)(a), C.R.S., to provide that, “… [A] transportation network company required to obtain a permit under 
section 40-10.1-606 is subject to civil penalties as provided in this section and sections 40-7-113 to 40-7-116, in addition to any other sanctions that may be imposed pursuant to law.”  

17. Section 4 of Senate Bill 14-125, codified at § 40-10.1-103(3), C.R.S., provides:

Transportation network companies, as defined in section 40-10.1-602 (3), are not common carriers, contract carriers, or motor carriers under this title, but are declared to be affected with a public interest and are subject to regulation to the extent provided in part 6 of this article.

(Emphasis added.)

18. Thus Senate Bill 14-125 brought TNCs, which “are declared to be affected with a public interest,” within the statutory definition of “public utility” and under the regulatory purview of Article 7 of Title 40.  

19. In the TNC Act, § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., states:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, transportation network companies are governed exclusively by this part 6.  A transportation network company is not subject to the commission's rate, entry, operational, or common carrier requirements, other than those requirements expressly set forth in this part 6.
(Emphasis added.)

20. Under Article XXV, Colo. Const., the Commission has broad legislative authority to regulate public utilities and their facilities, service, and rates.  The Colorado Supreme Court (Court) has consistently held since 1974 that the Commission has as much authority to regulate public utilities as the General Assembly possessed prior to the adoption of Article XXV in 1954, unless the General Assembly by a specific statutory provision restricts the legislative functions exercised by the Commission in regulating public utilities.  Colorado Office of Consumer Counsel v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., 816 P.2d 278, 283 (Colo. 1981); Colorado-Ute Electric Ass’n., Inc. v. Public Util. Comm’n., 760 P.2d 627, 636-639 (Colo. 1981); Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., 576 P.2d 544, 547-548 (Colo. 1978); and Miller Brothers v. Public Util. Comm’n., 185 Colo. 414, 525 P.2d 443, 451 (1974).  Moreover, the Commission’s “authority under article XXV is not narrowly confined but extends to incidental powers which are necessary to enable it to regulate public utilities.”  Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., 763 P.2d 1020, 1025-1026 (Colo. 1988).  These principles of Colorado constitutional law are known as the “Miller Brothers Doctrine.”

21. Unlike utility regulation statutes in other states, Colorado public utilities and transportation regulatory statutes do not delegate to the Commission the sole authority to perform various regulatory functions.  In the vernacular, the Commission is not a “creature of statute.”  See Colorado Energy Advocacy Office v. Public Service Co., 704 P.2d 298, 306 (Colo. 1985) (the Colorado Commission is not a “creature of statute;” its regulatory powers emanate from Article XXV, Colo. Const., and its power is equivalent to that of the Colorado Legislature, (Legislature) except as limited by statute.)  In determining whether a legislative enactment has limited the Commission’s regulatory powers, the Court has examined the relevant statutes in search of any specific statutory restriction on the Commission’s authority.  If there is a specific statutory restriction, the Commission’s power to regulate is controlled by that specific statutory limitation.  When the General Assembly has not specifically restricted the Commission’s authority to regulate in a particular manner, however, the Commission has all the authority previously held by the General Assembly to regulate public utilities, as defined in 
§ 40-1-103, C.R.S.  See e.g., Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., 576 P.2d 547-548 (§ 40-3-102, C.R.S., does not specifically restrict the Commission’s regulatory authority to award attorney’s fees and legal costs.); and  Colorado Municipal League v. Public Util. Comm’n., 591 P. 2d 577, 584 (Colo. 1979) (the file and suspend procedure for setting utility rates, found in § 40-6-111, C.R.S., does not specifically restrict the Commission’s regulatory authority to establish interim rates.)

22. In determining if specific statutes impose restrictions on the Commission’s regulatory powers, the Court has warned that it is improper to read into a statute qualifying language urged by a party in order to restrict the Commission’s ability to regulate unreasonably.  Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 763 P.2d at 1026.  See also Lafond v. Sweeney, 343 P.3d 939, 949 (Colo. 2015) and Boulder County Bd. of Comm’rs. v. HealthSouth Corp., 246 P.3d 948, 951 (Colo. 2011) (When interpreting a statute, and words are absent from the statute, one cannot add words to the statute). 
23. Administrative rules are presumed valid and will not be held unlawful unless the challenging party has demonstrated that the rule is invalid beyond a reasonable doubt.  The validity of a rule depends on whether it is reasonably related to a legitimate use of state authority, and the burden of establishing unreasonableness is on the party challenging the regulation.  Colorado Citizens for Ethics in Govt. v. Committee for the American Dream, 187 P.3d 1207, 1217 (Colo. App. 2008).  

24. This Decision will address other applicable Colorado case law and statutes, in context, in the “Findings, Discussion, and Conclusions” section of this Decision.  

III. FINDINGS, DISCUSSION, AND CONCLUSIONS

25. Respondent is a TNC, as defined by § 40-10.1-602(3), C.R.S., and Rule 6701(i), 4 CCR 723-6, of the TNC Rules, holds PUC Permit No. TNC-00001, and is subject to this Commission’s jurisdiction.

26. The Commission has jurisdiction over these Amended CPANs, over Staff, and over Respondent, pursuant to §§ 40-7-101, 40-7-112, 40-7-113, 40-7-116, 40-10.1-103(3), 
40-10.1-201, and 40-10.1-601 et seq., C.R.S.  

27. Because TNCs have been deemed to be affected with a public interest by 
§ 40-10.1-103(3), C.R.S., the ALJ finds and concludes that TNCs are within the definition of public utilities in § 40-1-103, C.R.S., and, therefore, TNCs are clearly subject to the Commission’s regulatory authority under Article XXV, Colo. Const., and relevant case law applying Article XXV.  

28. In order to place the legal arguments for and against the Petition into logical and rational context, it is necessary to visit briefly the rule-making proceedings that promulgated the TNC rules challenged here by Rasier.  

A. The TNC Rule-makings.

29. The Commission is required to promulgate such rules as are necessary for the proper administration and enforcement of Title 40 of the Colorado Revised Statutes.  See 
§ 40-2-108(1), C.R.S.  
30. The TNC Act provides that the Commission may promulgate rules consistent with Part 6, “including rules concerning administration, fees, and safety requirements.”  See 
§ 40-10.1-608(1), C.R.S.
  

After the TNC Act became effective, pursuant to § 24-4-103(2), C.R.S., the Commission launched an investigation into rule-making in Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR.
  In Decision No. C14-1246 (mailed on October 17, 2014), which opened that Proceeding, the Commission found (at ¶ I.C.8, page 3) that, “Senate Bill 125 requires TNCs and their drivers to comply with several administrative and safety provisions; however, the legislation is not comprehensive and leaves several matters unanswered.”  During this investigation into 
rule-making, Rasier, Lyft, Inc. (Lyft), and Staff negotiated and filed some “Group Consensus Proposed Rules” for the ALJ to recommend to the Commission for inclusion in a Notice of 

31. Proposed Rule-making (NOPR).  Subpart (b) of the Group Consensus Proposed Rule on “Driver History Research Report” stated:

(b)  At least every 12 months, a TNC shall obtain and review a driving history research report for each driver authorized to use the TNC’s digital network.  An individual with moving violations identified in § 40-10.1-605(4)(b)(I) and (II), C.R.S. shall not continue to serve as a driver for the TNC.

The proposed language is very similar to permanent Rule 6711(b) later promulgated by the Commission in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR (see below).
  

32. Chief ALJ G. Harris Adams issued his Recommended Decision in Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR on March 10, 2015, recommending inclusion of the Group Consensus Proposed Rules in the NOPR, which he revised to fashion a complete set of TNC Rules.

33. The Commission issued its NOPR in the permanent rule-making on April 30, 2015, using the ALJ’s suggested rules from Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR as the foundation for its proposed rules.
  The Commission specifically found that, “[T]he purpose of Rules 6701-6724 is to preserve the health, safety, and welfare of Coloradans and visitors to our state who use TNC services.”
  

34. In Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR, Rasier, Lyft, and Staff (Consensus Group) developed and agreed to “Stipulated Rules,” which they asked the ALJ to consider for the permanent TNC Rules.  On July 31, 2015, Rasier, Lyft, and Staff filed a Stipulated Rules Submission Letter (July 31st Letter), along with their Stipulated Rules in redline/legislative and clean formats.  Rasier objected to proposed Rule 6708(a) only to the extent it contained an English language sufficiency requirement, but agreed to the other Stipulated Rules.  Their July 31st Letter (at page 2) explained that Stipulated Rule 6722, Hours of Service, “reflects Rasier and Lyft’s commitment to enforce a company policy with hours limits that go beyond the words of the statute [§ 40-10.1-605(1)(e), C.R.S.].”  Their July 31st Letter (at page 2) stated that, “the Stipulated Rules strike the appropriate balance between the obligation of the Commission to ensure the safety of the traveling public through the promulgation of rules, and the needs of the TNCs to efficiently and effectively provide the services authorized under the TNC statute.”
  

35. Judge Adams held the public rule-making hearing on August 12, 2015, and Hearing Exhibit No. 8 contained Rasier’s, Lyft’s, and Staff’s proposed Stipulated Rules.  The first sentence of Stipulated Rule 6711(b) stated, “At least once every 12 months, a TNC shall obtain and review a driving history research report for each driver authorized to use the TNC’s digital network.”  Their Stipulated Rule 6724(c)(II) proposed a civil penalty assessment of $2,500 per violation of Rule 6708.  In a Joint Statement of Position (Joint SOP) filed on August 21, 2015, Rasier, Lyft, and Staff stated (at page 1) that, “the proposed driver hours rule (Rule 6722) … layers several requirements on top of the hours prohibition set forth in the 
TNC Act….”  The Joint SOP (at page 1) clarified that Rasier, Lyft, and Staff believed that “the proposed rules set forth in the Consensus Group’s July 31 filing, as clarified at the August 12 hearing, would uphold the letter and intent of the TNC statute, while adequately addressing public safety.”   

36. As relevant to the instant Proceeding, Rasier’s, Lyft’s, and Staff’s Stipulated Rules for Rules 6711(b), 6712, and 6724(c) are identical to the permanent TNC Rules eventually adopted by the Commission in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR (see below).  Except for the English language sufficiency requirement in Rule 6708(a), to which Rasier objected, Stipulated Rule 6708(a) is the same as the adopted permanent Rule 6708(a).
  

37. Judge Adams recommended that permanent TNC Rules be adopted in Decision No. R15-0985 (mailed on September 11, 2015) in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  As relevant to the instant Proceeding, Judge Adams adopted Rasier’s and the Consensus Group’s Stipulated Rules 6708(a) (without the English language sufficiency requirement), 6711, 6712, and 6724, including subparagraph (c) with the $2500 civil penalty for violating Rule 6708.
  

38. On October 1, 2015, Rasier filed Limited Exceptions to Judge Adams’ Decision No. R15-0985.  Rasier did not file Exceptions to the TNC rules challenged (or invoked) in this Proceeding – Rules 6708(a), 6711(b), 6712, and 6724(c).  (No other participant in the 
rule-making filed exceptions.)  Rasier argued two limited exceptions.  First, Rasier sought modifications to Rules 6723(l) and 6710(e) relating to record-keeping and disclosure of personally identifiable information of TNC users.  Second, Rasier sought clarification to Rule 6713(d) regarding medical fitness certification of TNC drivers.  With those two exceptions, Rasier supported “adoption of the ALJ’s recommendations in a final order establishing rules for TNCs.”
  Significantly, Rasier concluded that the rules, proposed for adoption in Decision No. R15-0985, were “a balanced, comprehensive set of TNC rules,” and Raiser urged “the Commission to adopt the rules proposed in the Recommended Decision with the limited clarifications” described in its Exceptions.
 

39. The Commission granted Rasier’s Exceptions in part in Decision No. C15-1201 (mailed on November 12, 2015) in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR, clarifying Rule 6713(d) as Rasier had proposed, along with other language clarifications.
  The Commission denied Rasier’s proposed revisions to Rules 6723(l) and 6710(e), concluding that those revisions would negate the plain language of § 40-10.1-605(1)(m), C.R.S.

40. In Decision No. C15-1201, the Commission adopted permanent TNC rules.  As relevant to the instant Proceeding, permanent TNC Rules 6711(b), 6712, and 6724(c) adopted by the Commission in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR are identical to the same rules in Rasier’s and the Consensus Group’s Stipulated Rules.  Permanent Rule 6708(a) is the same as Rasier and the Consensus Group’s Stipulated Rule 6708(a) and, consistent with Rasier’s objection, it excluded the English language sufficiency requirement.
  Because the Commission adopted Rasier and the Consensus Group’s Stipulated Rules 6708(a) (without the English language sufficiency requirement), 6711(b), 6712, and 6724(c), Raiser’s “reservation of rights” regarding possible future advocacy (see Footnote 8) was satisfied and completed.  

41. The Commission’s Decision No. C15-1201 became final and subject to judicial review pursuant to § 40-6-115, C.R.S.  Rasier did not seek judicial review of Decision 
No. C15-1201 and the permanent TNC Rules adopted therein.
  

42. Pursuant to Rule 1501(c) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1, the ALJ takes administrative notice of the Stipulated Rules Submission Letter filed on July 31, 2015 and Attachment A; the Joint Statement of Position filed on August 21, 2015; and the Limited Exceptions of Rasier, LLC, filed on October 1, 2015; as well as Decision No. R15-0985 and Attachment B and Decision No. C15-1201 and Attachment A in Proceeding 
No. 15R-0250TR.
  

B. Structure of Violations Cited in the Amended CPANs.

43. Before addressing Rasier’s substantive arguments in the Petition, however, it is important to understand what conduct by Rasier the Amended CPANs allege resulted in numerous violations of Rule 6708(a).  

44. Section 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., provides that, “For a violation of this part 6 
or a failure to comply with a commission order, decision, or rule issued under this 
part 6, a transportation network company is subject to the commission's authority under 
sections 40-7-101, 40-7-112, 40-7-113, 40-7-115, and 40-7-116.”  Pursuant to § 40-7-101, C.R.S., the Commission has the duty “to see that the constitution and statutes of this state affecting public utilities, and persons subject to article 10.1 or 10.5 of this title … are enforced and obeyed and that violations thereof are promptly prosecuted and penalties due the state are recovered and collected….”  Pursuant to § 40-7-116(1)(a), C.R.S., the investigative personnel of the Commission (Staff in this Proceeding) “have the authority to issue civil penalty assessments for the violations enumerated in sections 40-7-112 and 40-7-113.”
  Among other items, 
§ 40-7-116(1)(b), C.R.S., requires a civil penalty assessment notice to contain:  a “citation to the specific statute or rule alleged to have been violated” (§ 40-7-116(1)(b)(II), C.R.S.); and a “brief description of the alleged violation, the date and approximate location of the alleged violation, and the maximum penalty amounts prescribed for the violation” (§ 40-7-116(1)(b)(III), C.R.S.).
45. Ten Counts of Amended CPAN No. 119221 cite Rasier for violating Rule 6716(b), 4 CCR 723-6, for failure to provide records with 72 hours of a request by an Enforcement Official, on specific dates in Denver, Colorado, with a maximum penalty of $250.00 for each violation.  The remaining Counts of Amended CPAN No. 119221 cite Rasier for violating Rule 6708(a), 4 CCR 723-6, on specific dates in Denver, Colorado for “Permitting a person to act as a driver that is not qualified to drive based on” several recurring descriptions of the alleged violation.  Each of these remaining Counts states the maximum penalty amount and includes the TNC driver’s name in parentheses.  In these remaining Counts, the recurring descriptions of the nature of the alleged violations (with approximate numbers of Counts) are:

-
based on Rule 6711 (driving history) (159 Counts);

-
based on Rule 6711 (driving history) and no valid driver’s license (176 Counts);

-
based on Rule 6712 (criminal history) (438 Counts);

-
based on Rule 6712 (criminal history) and no valid driver’s license (581 Counts); 

-
based on Rule 6711 (driving history) and Rule 6712 (criminal history) (280 Counts); 

-
based on Rule 6711 (driving history) and Rule 6712 (criminal history) and no valid driver’s license (75 Counts); and

-
based on no valid driver’s license (136 Counts).

46. CPAN No. 120466 contains 37 Counts citing Rasier for violating Rule 6708(a) on specific dates in Denver, Colorado for:  “Permitting a person to act as a driver that is not qualified to drive based on rule 6712 (criminal history) (Driver Ramon Gordon).”  

C. Staff’s Request to Convert the Petition to a Motion for Summary Judgment.

47. Staff argues first that Rasier’s Petition should be converted into a Motion for Summary Judgment under Rule 56(h), Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure (C.R.C.P.)
  

48. Rule 56(h), C.R.C.P., provides that:  “At any time after the last required pleading, with or without supporting affidavits, a party may move for determination of a question of law.  If there is no genuine issue of any material fact necessary for the determination of the question of law, the court may enter an order deciding the question.”  (Emphasis added.)  In contrast, Rule 1304(i), 4 CCR 723-1, under which Rasier filed the Petition, contains no requirement that, before relief can be granted, there must be no genuine issue of material facts necessary to determine the question of law.
  
49. Staff claims that both Parties agree that there is no genuine issue of material fact necessary to decide the legal issues argued in Rasier’s Petition.
  In reply, while reserving its ability later to file a motion for summary judgment or to respond to more Staff pleadings, Rasier was indifferent to which label its Petition would be decided.
  

50. The burden of establishing the nonexistence of a genuine issue of material fact rests with the movant – here with Staff.
  A “material fact” is a fact that will affect the outcome of the case.
  Staff did not attach any affidavits attesting to facts that would demonstrate that there are no genuine issues of material facts necessary to decide these legal issues.  At this point in this case, all the ALJ has to consider are the Amended CPANs, as well as the various pleadings and legal arguments for and against the requested declaratory order.  In its request for summary judgment, Staff’s Response has relied on legal arguments in Raiser’s Petition.  However, the ALJ is not required to accept as true the legal conclusions argued by counsel in pleadings, even if couched as factual allegations.
  In other words, conclusory statements in legal pleadings (of either Party) are not evidence or facts that could demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of material fact necessary to decide the legal questions here.  

51. A brief examination of the Amended CPANs and the natures of the violations allegedly committed by Rasier leads the ALJ to conclude that there are genuine issues of material facts necessary to decide the legal issues argued in Raiser’s Petition.  For example, as to all Counts alleging violations of Rule 6708(a) based on Rule 6711, before Rasier permitted each named person (who was allegedly not qualified to drive) to act as a driver on its digital network, did Raiser actually obtain a driving history research report for the individual, as required by Rule 6711?  If such a report was obtained for the individual named in the Count, when did Rasier obtain it?  If such a report was obtained for the individual, did Raiser actually review the driving history report, as required by Rule 6711?  If so, when did Raiser review the report?  For the individual named in the Count, did the results show the individual was not qualified to drive under the TNC Act?  

52. Similar factual questions exist as to all Counts alleging violations of Rule 6708(a) based on Rule 6712.  Before Rasier permitted each named person (who was allegedly not qualified to drive) to act as a driver on its digital network, did Raiser actually obtain a criminal history record check for the individual, as required by Rule 6712?  If such a criminal record check was obtained for the individual named in the Count, when did Rasier obtain it?  If such a criminal record check was obtained for the individual, did Raiser actually review the criminal record check, as required by Rule 6712?  If so, when did Raiser review it?  For the individual named in the Count, did the results of the criminal record check show the individual was not qualified to drive under the TNC Act?  

53. Moreover, similar factual questions exist as to all Counts alleging violations of Rule 6708(a) based on the Rasier driver having no valid driver’s license.  Before Rasier permitted each named person (who was allegedly not qualified to drive) to act as a driver on its digital network, did Raiser actually obtain a driving history research report and a criminal history record check for the individual, as required by Rules 6711 and 6712 respectively, that revealed the driver did not have a valid driver’s license?  Did Rasier actually review such reports?  If so, when?  If not, how did Staff learn that the drivers named in these Counts did not have a valid driver’s license?  

54. The answers to these factual questions may determine whether or not Staff has proven each Count by a preponderance of the evidence.  Depending on the answers to these factual questions, Raiser could be found to have violated Rule 6708(a), or could be exonerated.  These genuine issues of material facts will, therefore, affect the outcome of this case.  The ALJ finds and concludes that there are clearly genuine issues of material facts necessary to decide the legal questions argued in Raiser’s Petition.  Staff’s request to convert Rasier’s Petition into a Motion for Summary Judgment under Rule 56(h), C.R.C.P., will be denied.  

D. Rasier’s Petition for Declaratory Order.
55. Relying on § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., Rasier argues that the Amended CPANs in this Proceeding exceed the Commission’s authority under the TNC Act in three ways:  
(1) Rule 6711(b) violates the TNC Act by imposing a new “operating” requirement on TNCs — an annual driving history re-check requirement; (2) the $2,500 penalties assessed in the Amended CPANs under Rule 6724(c) exceed the applicable $1,100 statutory maximum civil penalty in § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., which is incorporated into the TNC Act by § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S.; and (3) Staff alleged per-day violations in the Amended CPANs, when the TNC Act provides only for one-time violations for the conduct alleged in the numerous Counts.  

56. Rasier also argues that, in the Amended CPANs, Staff has acted contrary to the Commission’s TNC Rules: (1) by alleging violations of Rule 6708(a) for conduct that should have been charged under Rule 6711 or Rule 6712 (which carry smaller penalties); (2) by wrongly imposing per-day violations for conduct that the TNC Rules make a one-time violation (which is an as-applied version of the third statutory argument above); and (3) by alleging that Rasier improperly allowed drivers to access the network in situations where Rasier had actually deactivated drivers earlier than the TNC Rules provide.
57. Staff opposes each of Rasier’s arguments, asserting inter alia that § 40-10.1-608, C.R.S., recognizes the Commission’s authority to promulgate safety rules, including Rules 6708(a), 6711, and 6712; that Rasier is liable for civil penalties when it violates Article 10.1 of Title 40 (including the TNC Act) or Commission rules; and that the Commission had the authority to adopt a $2500 civil penalty for violations of Rule 6708, as provided in Rule 6724(c), 4 CCR 723-6.

58. This Decision will address and decide these arguments and related subordinate arguments in logical order below.  

E. Rule 6711(b) – the Annual Driving History Research Report.

59. In the Petition, Rasier first argues that Staff alleges in the Amended CPANs that Rasier violated Rule 6708(a) by failing to conduct timely annual re-checks of driver history research reports, but the TNC Act does not require such rechecks and does not authorize the Commission to impose such an annual requirement.  Rasier concedes that the TNC Act imposes a requirement that, before first permitting a person to act as a driver on the TNC’s network, the TNC must confirm that the person has a driver’s license and that no disqualifying conduct appears on his/her driving history research report, citing §§ 40-10.1-605(1)(d)(I) and 
40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S.  Rasier argues that by imposing an “operational” requirement that TNCs annually re-check an individual’s driving history, Rule 6711(b) exceeds the Commission’s power under the TNC Act, that the rule is legally invalid, and that Rasier is entitled to a declaration to that effect.

60. Rule 6708(a) requires that:  
A TNC shall not permit a person to act as a driver unless the person is at least 21 years of age; has a valid driver’s license; is medically qualified to drive as required by rule 6713; and is not disqualified to drive based on the results of the driving history research report required by rule 6711 or the criminal history record check required by rule 6712.

Rule 6711(b) requires that:

At least once every 12 months, a TNC shall obtain and review a driving history research report for each driver authorized to use the TNC's digital network.  The driving history research report shall include at a minimum any moving violation in the United States for the preceding three-year period.  An individual with moving violations identified in § 40-10.1-605(4)(b)(I) and (II), C.R.S. shall not continue to serve as a driver for the TNC.  

61. Administrative rules are presumed valid and will not be held unlawful unless Rasier, the challenging party, has demonstrated that the rules are invalid beyond a reasonable doubt.  The validity of a rule depends on whether it is reasonably related to a legitimate use of state authority.  Rasier bears the burden of demonstrating beyond a reasonable doubt that Rule 6711(b) is legally invalid.  Colorado Citizens for Ethics in Govt. v. Committee for the American Dream, supra, 187 P.3d at 1217.  

62. First, Rasier argues that Rule 6711(b) is an “operational requirement” because § 40-10.1-605(4)(a), C.R.S., is part of § 40-10.1-605, C.R.S., whose heading is “Operational requirements.”  However, -a Colorado rule of statutory construction, § 2-5-113(4), C.R.S., states:
The classification and arrangement by title, article, and numbering system of sections of Colorado Revised Statutes, as well as the section headings, source notes, annotations, revisor's notes, and other editorial material, shall be construed to form no part of the legislative text but to be only for the purpose of convenience, orderly arrangement, and information; therefore, no implication or presumption of a legislative construction is to be drawn therefrom.
(Emphasis added.)

63. The section heading “Operational requirements” is not part of the legislative text of § 40-10.1-605, C.R.S.  Therefore, the ALJ is precluded from construing that statute, as well as § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., as concerning only “Operational requirements.”  Indeed, in construing a statute, the ALJ considers the underlying purpose for creating the statute in order to give effect to the intent of the Legislature.   The ALJ first turns to the language of the statute, and gives effect to words and phrases according to their plain and ordinary meaning.  Gamblers’ Express Inc. v. Public Utilities Comm’n., 868 P.2d 405, 410 (Colo. 1994).  The statute must be considered as a whole and should be construed to give consistent, harmonious, and sensible effect to all of its parts.  A forced or strained statutory construction or one that leads to an absurd result must be avoided.  Avicomm, Inc. v. Colorado Public Utilities Comm’n., 955 P.2d 1023, 1031 (Colo. 1998).  
64. Reviewing § 40-10.1-605, C.R.S., as a whole to give it a sensible and unforced effect, the ALJ finds that § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., requiring driving history research reports for each individual driver and listing disqualifying moving violations is intended to protect the safety of the traveling public.  Moreover, a number of other sections of § 40-10.1-605, C.R.S., concern matters intended to protect the safety of TNC riders, including but not limited to:  
§ 40-10.1-605(1)(d), C.R.S. (driver must possess a valid driver’s license and proof of insurance, and must be medically fit to drive); § 40-10.1-605(1)(e), C.R.S. (12 consecutive hour limit on how long a TNC driver can drive); § 40-10.1-605(1)(f), C.R.S. (TNCs shall implement an intoxicating substance policy for drivers); § 40-10.1-605(1)(g), C.R.S. (required safety inspections of drivers’ vehicles); § 40-10.1-605(2), C.R.S. (TNCs or third parties must retain driver vehicle inspection records for at least 14 months after each inspection); and 
§ 40-10.1-605(3), C.R.S. (criminal history record checks for each driver and listing convictions for disqualifying offenses).  It would be absurd to conclude, as Rasier argues, that these statutes were not intended by the Legislature to be safety measures intended to protect the safety of TNC riders and the public.  
65. In construing § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., to give it a consistent, harmonious, and sensible effect while avoiding a forced or strained statutory construction or an absurd result, the ALJ finds and concludes that § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., was intended by the Legislature to protect the safety of the traveling public by ensuring that TNC drivers have valid driver’s licenses and do not have disqualifying moving violations in their driving history.  Indeed, in the NOPR starting the TNC rule-making, the Commission specifically found that, “[T]he purpose of Rules 6701-6724 is to preserve the health, safety, and welfare of Coloradans and visitors to our state who use TNC services.”
  In adopting the TNC Rules, the Commission specifically found that, “The purpose of these rules is to preserve the health, safety, and welfare of Coloradans and visitors to our state who use TNC services.”
  It is clear that one purpose of the TNC Rules intended by the Commission was to protect the safety of Colorado citizens and visitors to Colorado who would use TNC services.  The ALJ finds and concludes that Rule 6711(b) on Driving History Research Reports, as well as Rule 6708 on Driver Minimum Qualifications, are safety rules, which are clearly within the Commission’s authority to promulgate rules concerning safety requirements, as recognized in § 40-10.1-608, C.R.S.
66. Second, Raiser’s legal argument – that Rule 6711(b) exceeds the Commission’s power under the TNC Act and is legally invalid – rests on its position that the Commission, “like any administrative agency, is strictly limited to the powers conferred by its enabling statutes,” and “unless expressly or impliedly authorized by statute, administrate rules and regulations are without force and effect if they add to, change, modify, or conflict with an existing statute.”  For these propositions, Rasier cites Adams v. Colorado Dept. of Social Services, 824 P. 2d 83, 86 (Colo. App. 1991).
  Rasier argues that the TNC Act establishes the only substantive regulatory requirements that apply to TNCs, and that the Commission can enforce the TNC Act, but cannot add new requirements or otherwise vary the statute’s terms.
  The ALJ finds and concludes that this legal argument is contrary to Colorado law and will be rejected.  

67. Rasier’s argument here relies on two statutes in the TNC Act.  First, 
§ 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., states:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, transportation network companies are governed exclusively by this part 6.  A transportation network company is not subject to the commission's rate, entry, operational, or common carrier requirements, other than those requirements expressly set forth in this part 6.
(Emphasis added.)  Rasier argues that § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., should be construed to say that the Commission lacks the statutory authority to adopt rules imposing any new requirements not expressly delegated to it in the TNC Act.  

68. Second, § 40-10.1-605(4)(a), C.R.S., requires that, “Before permitting an individual to act as a driver on its digital network, a transportation network company shall obtain and review a driving history research report for the individual.”  Section 40-10.1-605(4)(b), C.R.S., states the following prohibitions:  
(b)
An individual with the following moving violations shall not serve as a driver:  

(I)
More than three moving violations in the three-year period preceding the individual's application to serve as a driver; or 

(II)
A major moving violation in the three-year period preceding the individual's application to serve as a driver, whether committed in this state, another state, or the United States, including vehicular eluding, as described in section 18-9-116.5, C.R.S., reckless driving, as described in section 42-4-1401, C.R.S., and driving under restraint, as described in section 42-2-138, C.R.S.

The remainder of the statute addresses requirements for TNC record-keeping of results of driving history research reports.  

69. Rasier argues that because § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., fails to include a provision authorizing another check and review of a driving history research report for each driver at least once every 12 months, the Commission had no authority to adopt Rule 6711(b), which therefore is legally invalid.  
70. Rasier’s argument completely ignores the long-standing principles of Colorado constitutional law expressed in the Miller Brothers Doctrine.  (See pages 6 through 8 of this Decision, supra.)  In summary, under Article XXV, Colo. Const., the Commission has broad legislative authority to regulate the services of public utilities and companies deemed to be affected with a public interest, including TNCs (§ 40-10.1-103(3), C.R.S.).  The Commission has as much authority to regulate public utilities and TNCs as the General Assembly possessed prior to the adoption of Article XXV in 1954, unless the General Assembly by a specific statutory provision has restricted the legislative functions exercised by the Commission in regulating public utilities and TNCs.  See Colorado Office of Consumer Counsel v. Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co., supra, 816 P.2d at 283; Colorado-Ute Electric Ass’n., Inc. v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 760 P.2d at 636-639; Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 576 P.2d at 547-548; and Miller Brothers v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 525 P.2d at 451.  The Commission’s authority under Article XXV is not narrowly confined, but extends to incidental powers that are necessary to enable it to regulate public utilities and TNCs.  Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 763 P.2d at 1025-1026.  

71. First, § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., does not attempt to exempt TNCs from the Miller Brothers doctrine.  If the Legislature intended such an exemption, it would have clearly stated that the intent of the statute was to exempt TNCs from application of the Miller Brothers Doctrine, or at a minimum that the entire TNC Act is a complete restriction on the Commission’s regulatory authority and the Commission has no authority to add to the explicit regulatory authority set forth in the TNC Act.  Second, Rasier’s argument relies only on the first sentence of § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S.  The ALJ must construe the TNC Act and § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., as a whole and must give consistent, harmonious, and sensible effect to all of their parts, without reaching an absurd result.  The second sentence of § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., provides, “A transportation network company is not subject to the commission's rate, entry, operational, or common carrier requirements, other than those requirements expressly set forth in this part 6.”  The second sentence clarifies, explains, and qualifies the meaning of the first sentence.

Applying the Miller Brothers Doctrine, the ALJ finds and concludes that the only specific limitation placed on the Commission’s authority by § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., restricts the Commission from regulating TNCs with the rate, entry, operational, or common carrier requirements imposed on common carriers,
 unless those common carrier requirements are expressly set forth in the TNC Act.  It is significant that § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., does not state explicitly that the Commission has no authority to require periodic re-checks of driving history research reports.  Under the Miller Brothers Doctrine, the Commission has the legislative authority under Article XXV to adopt reasonable public safety regulations, including Rules 6708 and 6711(b), and to impose on TNCs the requirement to obtain and review, at least every 12 months, an annual driving history research report for each driver authorized to use the TNC's 

72. digital network.  Annual driving history research reports will help TNCs to identify drivers who have no valid driver’s license or who have committed disqualifying moving violations; such drivers should not be endangering the traveling public by driving for TNCs.  Protecting the traveling public from such disqualified drivers is certainly within the Commission’s legislative powers under Article XXV.  Rasier’s proposed statutory construction of §§ 40-10.1-603 and 
40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., is strained and leads to the absurd result that the Commission would be powerless to protect the public and TNC riders from the safety hazards created by such disqualified drivers.  The ALJ’s construction of §§ 40-10.1-603 and 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., avoids a strained construction and that absurd result.  Avicomm, Inc. v. Colorado Public Utilities Comm’n., supra, 955 P.2d at 1031.  Rasier’s proposed construction of these statutes also conflicts with the Colorado Supreme Court’s long-standing interpretation of Article XXV embodied in the Miller Brothers doctrine.  

73. Even without the Miller Brothers Doctrine, under rules of statutory construction applicable to administrative agencies that are “creatures of statute” (which does not apply to the Commission), when an enabling statute is silent with respect to a specific issue, the inquiry is whether the agency’s rule or ruling is based on a permissible or reasonable construction of the statute.  Northern Colorado Medical Center, Inc. v. Committee on Anticompetitive Conduct, 914 P.2d 902, 907 (Colo. 1996); Mile High Greyhound Park, Inc. v. Colorado Racing Comm’n., 12 P.3d 351, 353-354 (Colo. App. 2000), cert denied.  Indeed, Colorado appellate courts have recognized that “the General Assembly cannot delegate explicitly for every contingency that may arise.  Not surprisingly, therefore, it is also well-established that agencies possess implied and incidental powers filling the interstices between express powers to effectuate their mandates.  [citation omitted.]  Thus, the lawful delegation of power to an administrative agency carries with it the authority to do whatever is reasonable to fulfill its duties.”  Hawes v. Colorado Div. of Insurance, 65 P.3d 1008, 1016 (Colo. 2003) (implied authority to award attorney’s fees); Colorado Citizens for Ethics in Govt. v. Committee for the American Dream, supra, 187 P.3d at 1217 (implied authority to adopt a rule on electioneering reporting).  Thus, in cases like Hawes and Colorado Citizens, Colorado Courts have upheld administrative agency rules or rulings based on implied powers, when an enabling statute is silent about authority to adopt a rule or to enter an administrative order.  Under this analysis, the Commission had the implied authority under §§ 40-10.1-605(4)(a) and 40-10.1-608, C.R.S., to adopt Rule 6711(b), as well as Rule 6708, as safety rules.   
74. In the investigation into rule-making, the Commission found that the TNC Act “requires TNCs and their drivers to comply with several administrative and safety provisions; however, the legislation is not comprehensive and leaves several matters unanswered.”
  The ALJ has already concluded that Rule 6711(b), requiring annual driving history research reports, is a safety rule that is clearly within the Commission’s authority to promulgate rules concerning safety requirements, as recognized in § 40-10.1-608, C.R.S.  Therefore, Rule 6711(b), a safety rule designed to protect the traveling public from disqualified drivers, also rests upon a permissible interpretation of §§ 40-10.1-605(4)(a) and 40-10.1-608, C.R.S., and is reasonable.  
75. Moreover, in the Stipulated Rules proposed by Rasier and the Consensus Group, the first sentence of Stipulated Rule 6711(b) contained an identical annual driving history research report requirement.
  In their Joint SOP (at page 1) Rasier and the Consensus Group stated that “the proposed rules set forth in the Consensus Group’s July 31 filing, as clarified at the August 12 hearing, would uphold the letter and intent of the TNC statute, while adequately addressing public safety.”  Rasier now argues that its advocacy in the TNC rule-making, for adoption of the very language in Rule 6711(b) that it now challenges, is irrelevant, because Rule 6711(b) exceeds the Commission’s rule-making authority under the TNC Act.
  That argument is without merit.  While Rasier’s advocacy in the TNC rule-making is not outcome determinative here, it must be seriously considered in judging the merits of Rasier’s legal arguments.  If Rasier believed that its proposed Rule 6711(b) was lawful, perhaps in order to secure approval for its favored version of the TNC Rules, then the identical adopted Rule 6711(b) still upholds “the letter and intent” of the TNC Act and is still lawful to address public safety.
  

76. Finally, Rasier’s Petition asks the ALJ to declare Rule 6711(b) invalid.  That argument is an improper collateral attack on the Commission’s Decision No. C15-1201 in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR, which adopted the currently effective TNC Rules, including Rule 6711(b), which Rasier challenges in its Petition.  Section 40-6-112(2), C.R.S., provides that, “In all collateral actions or proceedings, the decisions of the commission which have become final shall be conclusive.”  As noted earlier, Rasier did not seek judicial review of Decision No. C15-1201, which adopted the permanent TNC Rules.  As the Colorado Supreme Court has held, the absence of judicial review or a court order setting aside or modifying an adopted rule precludes a subsequent collateral attack upon the rule, and the Commission is obligated to follow the rule in the subsequent proceeding.  Mountain States Tel. and Tel. Co. v. Public Utilities Comm’n., 527 P.2d 524, 528-29 (Colo. 1974).
  Hence, in this Proceeding, Rule 6711(b) is a final Commission rule adopted in Decision No. C15-1201 and is currently in effect; there was no judicial review of Rule 6711(b) or any court order setting aside or modifying Rule 6711(b) as unlawful; and the Commission is obligated to follow Rule 6711(b).  Rasier’s various arguments, that Rule 6711(b) is legally invalid as in excess of the Commission’s authority, constitute an improper collateral attack on Rule 6711(b), in violation of § 40-6-112(2), C.R.S., and are rejected.  

77. The ALJ finds, concludes, and declares that Rule 6711(b), 4 CCR 723-6, is within the Commission’s authority under the TNC Act and that Rule 6711(b) is legally valid.  Rasier’s request for a contrary declaration will be denied.  
F. Rule 6724(c) – the $2500 Civil Penalty for Violating Rule 6708(a).

78. Rasier argues next that the TNC Act does not authorize the $2500 penalty for violations of Rule 6708.  Both Rasier and Staff cite § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., which incorporates by reference several statutes from Article 10.1, Motor Carriers, in Title 40:  “For a violation of this part 6 or a failure to comply with a commission order, decision, or rule issued under this part 6, a transportation network company is subject to the commission's authority under sections 40-7-101, 40-7-112, 40-7-113, 40-7-115, and 40-7-116.”  Both Rasier and Staff rely upon § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., which states in pertinent part:
A person who violates any provision of article 10.1 or 10.5 of this title 40 …, any rule promulgated by the commission pursuant to this title 40, or any safety rule adopted by the department of public safety relating to motor carriers as defined in section 40-10.1-101 may be assessed a civil penalty of not more than one thousand one hundred dollars; except that any person who violates a safety rule promulgated by the commission is subject to the civil penalties authorized pursuant to 49 CFR 386, subpart G, and associated appendices to part 386, as the subpart existed on January 1, 2017.
(Emphasis added)
79. Rasier relies on the language in bold to argue that the maximum penalty the Commission can assess for a violation of Rule 6708 is $1,100, and that the $2500 per violation set forth in Rule 6724(c) exceeds the Commission’s authority and is invalid as a matter of law.  Staff relies upon the italicized language to argue that the maximum penalty for a violation of a Commission safety rule is subject to the civil penalties set by 46 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 386 Subpart G, Appendix B(a)(3) and 49 CFR 385, Appendix B VII, up to a maximum of $14,502.  Rasier replies that Rule 6708 is an operational rule, not a safety rule and that Staff cannot ex post facto deem Rule 6708 a safety rule.  Rasier argues that the federal penalties apply only to motor carriers, not to TNCs, citing 49 CFR 385.1 and 49 CFR Part III, which is entitled “Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration,” and Rasier reminds us that the TNC Act declares that TNCs are not “motor carriers,” citing the definition in § 40-10.1-101(10), C.R.S.
  

80. Rasier’s arguments are not persuasive and are rejected.  First, the ALJ has already found and concluded that Rules 6708 and 6711(b) are safety rules, which are clearly within the Commission’s authority to promulgate rules concerning safety requirements, as recognized in § 40-10.1-608, C.R.S.  
81. Rasier’s argument that Staff has deemed Rule 6708 to be a safety rule ex post facto is without merit.  In the permanent rule-making NOPR the Commission found that, “[T]he purpose of Rules 6701-6724 is to preserve the health, safety, and welfare of Coloradans and visitors to our state who use TNC services.”
  In adopting the TNC Rules, the Commission specifically found that, “The purpose of these rules is to preserve the health, safety, and welfare of Coloradans and visitors to our state who use TNC services.”
  Hence, Staff fairly concluded that Rule 6708 is a safety rule.  The ALJ has already found and concluded that one purpose of the TNC Rules intended by the Commission was to protect the safety of Colorado citizens and visitors to Colorado who would use TNC services.  That finding applies to Rule 6708, which is also a safety rule.  

82. Second, Rasier argues that the federal penalties could not apply to TNCs, because the federal penalties apply only to motor carriers, not to TNCs and because 49 CFR Part III, is entitled “Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration” and TNCs are not motor carriers under the TNC Act.  That argument is also without merit.  Rasier ignores the fact that Article 10.1 of Title 40 is also entitled “Motor Carriers” and yet the TNC Act was codified within Article 10.1.  Rasier’s argument also cannot overcome the italicized language quoted above in 
§ 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., which allows the Commission to look to the penalties in 46 CFR 386, Subpart G and its appendices when any person violates a safety rule, such as Rule 6708, promulgated by the Commission.  
83. At the oral argument, counsel for Staff stated that Staff relied on Rule 6724(c) and not on any federal regulations for the civil penalties for violations of Rule 4708(a) cited in the Amended CPANs.
  In the TNC rule-making proceeding, both Judge Adams and the Commission adopted Rasier’s and the Consensus Group’s Stipulated Rule 6724, including subparagraph (c) with the $2500 civil penalty for violating Rule 6708.  In the rule-making decisions, there were no discussions of the rationale for any of the civil penalty amounts, including the $2500 civil penalty in Rule 6724(c).
  

84. Nevertheless, the ALJ agrees with Staff’s argument that, in promulgating Rule 6724(c) with the $2500 per violation penalty for violations of Rule 6708, the Commission could have based this penalty upon the language in § 40-7-113(1)(g), C.R.S., providing that, “any person who violates a safety rule promulgated by the commission is subject to the civil penalties authorized pursuant to 49 CFR 386, subpart G, and associated appendices to part 386, as the subpart existed on January 1, 2017.”  
85. Third, Rasier’s Petition asks the ALJ to declare Rule 6724(c), and the $2500 per violation civil penalty for violations of Rule 6708, invalid as a matter of law.  Again, Rasier’s argument is an improper collateral attack on the Commission’s Decision No. C15-1201 in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR and on the currently effective Rule 6724(c).  Section 40-6-112(2), C.R.S., provides that, “In all collateral actions or proceedings, the decisions of the commission which have become final shall be conclusive.”  As noted earlier, Rasier did not seek judicial review of Decision No. C15-1201 and the permanent TNC Rules.  Again, the absence of judicial review or a court order setting aside or modifying an adopted rule precludes a subsequent collateral attack upon the rule, and the Commission is obligated to follow the rule in the subsequent proceeding.  Mountain States Tel. and Tel. Co. v. Public Utilities Comm’n., supra, 527 P.2d at 528-29.  Hence, in this Proceeding, Rule 6724(c) is a final, effective Commission rule adopted in Decision No. C15-1201.  There was no judicial review of Rule 6724(c), and there is no court order setting aside or modifying Rule 6724(c) as unlawful.  The Commission and the ALJ are obligated to follow Rule 6724(c).  Rasier’s argument, that Rule 6724(c) is in excess of the Commission’s authority and is legally invalid, constitutes an improper collateral attack on Rule 6724(c), in violation of § 40-6-112(2), C.R.S., and is rejected.  

86. Finally, Rasier again argues that Rule 6724(c) exceeds the Commission’s 
rule-making authority under the TNC Act.  Rasier has claimed that its advocacy in the TNC 
rule-making, including advocating adoption of the $2500 civil penalty in Rule 6724(c), is irrelevant.
  The ALJ has already found and concluded that this argument, as to Rule 6711(b), is without merit, and it is as well without merit as to Rule 6724(c) and the $2500 civil penalty for violations of Rule 6708.  Rasier’s advocacy in the TNC rule-making may not be outcome determinative here, but it must be seriously considered in judging the merits of Rasier’s legal arguments.  If Rasier believed in the rule-making that its proposed Rule 6724(c) and $2500 civil penalty were lawful, perhaps in order to secure approval for its favored version of the TNC Rules, then the identical adopted Rule 6724(c), and $2500 civil penalty for violations of Rule 6708, still uphold “the letter and intent” of the TNC Act and are still lawful to address public safety.  

87. The ALJ finds, concludes, and declares that Rule 6724(c), 4 CCR 723-6, is within the Commission’s authority under the TNC Act and that Rule 6724(c) and the $2500 civil penalty for violations of Rule 6708 are valid as a matter of law.  Rasier’s request for a contrary declaration will be denied.  
G. One-Time Versus Per-day Violations of the TNC Rules and Per-day Civil Penalty Assessments. 

88. Rasier argues that the Amended CPANs exceed the scope of the Commission’s statutory authority because § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., does not authorize per-day penalties for violations of the TNC Rules.  Rasier maintains that, because three relevant statutes in the TNC Act required Rasier to undertake discrete actions “before permitting a person to act as a driver” on its digital network, the only day that a violation of the statutory requirements can occur is the first day that Rasier permits the person to act as a driver without complying with the requirements.
  Thus, Rasier argues, § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., does not permit daily penalties to be assessed for subsequent days the driver logs onto the TNC network.  Raiser argues the relevant question is when does the violation occur?  To the extent the Amended CPANs alleged multiple days’ worth of violations by a single driver, Rasier argues, the Amended CPANs exceed the Commission’s statutory authority.
  Staff responds that § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., incorporates by reference to apply to TNCs § 40-7-115, C.R.S., which authorizes daily offenses and associated civil penalties to be imposed for violations of Commission rules.  Staff maintains that each day Rasier permitted an ineligible driver to act as a driver was a separate violation.  Staff maintains that TNCs must perform daily driving history reports and criminal record checks before allowing the driver to log onto its network and that each day Raiser failed to do so was a new violation and warranted a separate civil penalty.
  Rasier replies by reiterating its previous argument on this issue:  the three TNC statutes (noted below in Footnote 45) set out requirements that can be violated only once for each driver on the first day on which that driver received access to the TNC network without the required statutory check having first been completed.  Rasier asserts that Staff’s Response would expand the scope of the statutory text (“before permitting a person to act as a driver”) to allow per-day violations and civil penalties.

89. The ALJ finds and concludes that Rasier’s statutory authority argument is without merit and will be rejected.  The unambiguous language of the relevant statutes, discussed below, allow CPANs to cite separate per-day violations of the TNC Act and TNC Rules, as well as the assessment of per-day civil penalties, when the facts warrant per-day violations and civil penalties.  However, the ALJ also is not persuaded by Staff’s argument that the TNC Act requires TNCs to conduct daily driving history reports and criminal record checks before allowing the driver to log onto its network each day.  
90. In the TNC Act, § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., states clearly and succinctly that:  

For a violation of this part 6 or a failure to comply with a commission order, decision, or rule issued under this part 6, a transportation network company is subject to the commission's authority under sections 40-7-101, 40-7-112, 
40-7-113, 40-7-115, and 40-7-116.
The relevant incorporated statute, § 40-7-115, C.R.S., states clearly and succinctly that:  “Each day in which a person violates any statute, rule, or order of the commission for which a civil penalty may be imposed under section 40-7-113 or 40-7-113.5 may constitute a separate offense.”  This statutory language is plain, clear, and unambiguous, and Staff did not exceed its authority as a matter of law by alleging Rasier violated Rule 6708(a) on multiple occasions and assessing per-day civil penalties for the cited violations.  If the facts warrant charging a violation of the TNC Act, the TNC Rules, or a Commission order, §§ 40-10.1-606(5)(a) and 40-7-115, C.R.S., authorize Staff to file a CPAN alleging daily violations and assessing per-day civil penalties for valid violations.  
91. At this point in this Proceeding, there has been no evidentiary hearing, and hence there is no evidence from which the ALJ could determine at this time whether or not Rasier permitted the persons named in the Amended CPANs to act as drivers on its digital network, on the multiple dates cited, without confirming that these drivers had valid driver’s licenses or without obtaining and reviewing the results of a criminal history record check and a driving history research report for the individuals.  The ALJ expects that the evidentiary hearing will provide sufficient evidence for him to be able to make the necessary determinations to adjudicate this issue.  
92. The following comments on this issue may promote a more efficient evidentiary hearing.  Rasier argued that the statutory language “before permitting a person to act as a driver on its digital network” means that violations of the TNC Act and TNC Rules can only be violated once, on the first day that the person receives access to the TNC network without the required statutory report and check having been completed.  Thus, Rasier reasoned, daily penalties cannot be assessed for subsequent days the driver logs onto the TNC network.  Staff argued that each day Rasier failed to run the required check or report before allowing the driver to log into the network violated the statutory requirements, warranting per-day violations and penalties.  Both arguments go far beyond the statutory language and would add words to the statute to achieve their conclusions.  When interpreting a statute, however, it is improper to add words to the statute.  See Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 763 P.2d at 1026; Lafond v. Sweeney, supra, 343 P.3d at 949; and Boulder County Bd. of Comm’rs. v. HealthSouth Corp., supra, 246 P.3d at 951.  
93. The ALJ finds that the statutory language, “before permitting a person to act as a driver on its digital network,” means that a TNC shall confirm that the applicant driver inter alia has a valid driver’s license, and shall obtain and review the results of a criminal history record check and a driving history research report for the individual.  This statutory language, however, does not mean that a TNC, including Rasier, can be charged only once with one violation of the applicable statutes or TNC Rules.  If a TNC violates the TNC Act or TNC Rules for which civil penalties may be imposed, then each day’s violation may constitute a separate offense.  
94. For example, assume the TNC makes the required initial confirmation, obtains the criminal record check and driving history report, and qualifies the driver, but does not review the results of the check and report.  The results show, however, that the individual should be disqualified to act as a driver.  The TNC clearly has violated Rule 6708(a) and could be cited for the violation in a CPAN for every day the disqualified person acts as a driver.  Under Raiser’s argument, the TNC complied with the first day requirement, but thereafter allowed a disqualified driver to access its network and could not be cited for violations on subsequent days.  Second, assume, based on the results of the annual driving history report, required by Rule 6711, the driver should be disqualified for having the moving violations listed in § 40-10.1-605(4)(b), C.R.S., but the TNC still permits the person to continue to act as a driver on its digital network.  On these facts, the TNC may have complied with the first day requirement, but thereafter allowed a disqualified driver to access its network and could be cited for violations on subsequent days.  Under Raiser’s argument, the TNC could not be cited for subsequent daily violations, because it complied with the first day requirements.  There may be many other examples when a TNC may commit per-day violations and be assessed civil penalties for each day of such violations.  
95. Staff’s argument – that a violation occurs each day Rasier failed to run these checks or reports before allowing the driver to log into the network – would insert requirements into §§ 40-10.1-605(3)(a)(I) and 40-10.1-605(4)(a), C.R.S., that do not exist.  This argument also ignores, or minimizes, the language of Rule 6708(a) requiring disqualification of drivers “based on the results of the driving history research report required by rule 6711 or the criminal history record check required by rule 6712.”  (Emphasis added.)  
96. The ALJ adopts the interpretation of §§ 40-10.1-606(5)(a) and 40-7-115, C.R.S., discussed herein.  The ALJ declines to enter a declaratory order stating as a matter of law that Rules 6711 and 6712 do not provide for repeated per-day violations, but rather can be violated only on the first day on which Rasier allowed access without having obtained a required report.  
H. Rule 6708(a) Versus Rules 6711 and 6712.

97. All but ten of the Counts in the Amended CPCNs cite Rasier for violations of Rule 6708(a) (quoted below).  Rasier argues that Staff erred in charging it with violations of Rule 6708(a) and not with violations of Rule 6711 or Rule 6712.  
98. Rule 6711(a), which implements § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., requires that:

Before permitting an individual to act as a driver on its digital network, a 
TNC shall obtain and review a driving history research report for the individual.  The driving history research report shall include at a minimum any moving violation in the United States for the three-year period preceding the individual’s application.  An individual with moving violations identified in 
§ 40-10.1-605(4)(b)(I) and (II), C.R.S. shall not serve as a driver for the TNC. 

(Emphasis added.)  

99. Rule 6712 implements § 40-10.1-605(3), C.R.S., and sets forth three requirements relevant to Rasier’s argument.  First, Rule 6712(a) requires that:  

Before permitting an individual to act as a driver on its digital network, a TNC shall obtain and review a criminal history record check for the individual that complies with C.R.S. § 40-10.1-605(3)(a).  If a privately administered national criminal history record check is used, custody of the record check shall be direct from the entity administering the check to the TNC.

(Emphasis added.)  Second, Rule 6712(d) requires that, “At least once every five years, a TNC shall obtain and review a criminal history record check for each driver authorized to use the TNC's digital network.”  Third, Rule 6712(e) requires that, “No TNC shall permit any individual convicted of or who pled guilty or nolo contendere to any of the offenses listed in § 40-10.1-605(3)(c), C.R.S., to log into its digital network or serve as a driver for the TNC.”  

100. On this issue, Rasier argues that Staff lacks authority to charge it with violating Rule 6708(a) and that in so doing Staff has misinterpreted Rule 6708(a).  Rasier argues that the Amended CPANs should have cited Rasier only with violations of Rules 6711 and 6712, which carry lower civil penalties of $250 and $275, respectively, while violations of Rule 6708 carry the $2500 civil penalty.
  Staff responds that together Rules 6708, 6711, and 6712 prevent individuals with certain felonies or driving offenses from acting as drivers, which enhances public safety.  Staff asserts that Rules 6711 and 6712 require the driving history and criminal background checks, while Rule 6708 forbids the TNC from permitting an individual from acting as a driver “who is disqualified pursuant to one of those checks or any other listed basis.”  Staff concludes that the penalties are for Rasier’s acts of allowing disqualified drivers to log onto its network, not for the failure to check that driver’s history.
  Rasier replies, citing Rule 6708(a), that disqualification is not required based on a driver’s record or criminal history, but rather “based on the results of the driving history research report required by rule 6711 or the criminal history record check required by rule 6712.”  (Rasier’s emphasis.)  Rasier concludes that, “a TNC risks Rule 6708 liability — and the higher fines that accompany violations of that Rule — only when it allows someone to drive in the face of a Rule 6711/6712 report showing that the person is in fact disqualified.
  
101. Rule 6708(a) requires that:  
A TNC shall not permit a person to act as a driver unless the person is at least 21 years of age; has a valid driver’s license; is medically qualified to drive as required by rule 6713; and is not disqualified to drive based on the results of the driving history research report required by rule 6711 or the criminal history record check required by rule 6712.

(Emphasis added.)    

102. Rasier’s argument that Staff lacks authority to charge it with violations of Rule 6708(a) is incorrect.  Pursuant to § 40-7-116(1)(a), C.R.S., which applies to TNCs by virtue of its incorporation into § 40-10.1-606(5)(a), C.R.S., Staff clearly has the authority to file civil penalty assessments against Rasier, or any other TNC, alleging violations of Colorado statutes, Commission decisions, Commission orders, or rules issued under the TNC Act.  In the hearing on the Amended CPANs, pursuant to § 40-7-116(1)(d)(II), C.R.S., Staff will bear the burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Rasier committed the alleged violations of Rule 6708(a) and what civil penalties should be imposed.  
103. Rasier’s argument, that Staff has misinterpreted Rule 6708(a) in the Amended CPANs, by assessing civil penalties for alleged violations of Rule 6708(a), rather than for violations of Rules 6711 and 6712, is not a legal issue and does not warrant a declaratory order that as a matter of law Staff was required to charge violations of Rules 6711 and 6712.  The ALJ finds and concludes that, in the exercise of its prosecutorial discretion, Staff could have charged Rasier with violations of Rules 6711 and/or 6712, if Staff had a factual basis to support such charges.  For whatever reasons, however, in its discretion Staff chose not to assess civil penalties for violations of Rules 6711 and/or 6712.  Staff’s exercise of prosecutorial discretion to charge violations of Rule 6708(a) and to assess the associated civil penalties will stand or fall based upon the evidence it adduces at hearing to prove these charges.  
104. There is not yet any evidence in the record of this Proceeding from which the ALJ could determine at this time whether Staff will be able to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that Rasier violated Rule 6708(a) in the numerous Counts in the Amended CPANs.  That is the purpose of the evidentiary hearing scheduled in December of 2018.  Rasier will have the opportunity to assert whatever legitimate defenses it can prove by a preponderance of the evidence.  The ALJ will render a Recommended Decision on which Counts have been proven and which have not, as well on how much, if any, civil penalties are warranted for those Counts that have been proven.  
105. Moreover, Rasier’s arguments on this issue focus on the last clause of Rule 6708(a) and appear to ignore the requirement that, “A TNC shall not permit a person to act as a driver unless the person … has a valid driver’s license.”  In the Amended CPANs, there are approximately 136 Counts that charge Rasier with permitting a person to act as a driver that is not qualified to drive based alone on “no valid driver’s license.”  There are approximately 832 Counts that charge Rasier with permitting a person to act as a driver that is not qualified to drive based on “no valid driver’s license” and based as well on Rule 6711, Rule 6712, or a combination of Rules 6711 and 6712.  Indeed, § 40-10.1-605(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., states that, “Before permitting a person to act as a driver on its digital network, a transportation network company shall confirm that the person … possesses:  (I) A valid driver’s license….”  From the language of the first part of Rule 6708(a) and in § 40-10.1-605(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the TNC’s determination that a potential driver has a valid driver’s license does not necessarily depend on the results of a driving history report required by Rule 6711 or a criminal record check required by Rule 6712.  Since at this point in the Proceeding there has been no evidentiary hearing, and hence there is no evidence, the ALJ cannot determine at this time whether or not Rasier confirmed that these drivers had valid driver’s licenses; or if it did so confirm, how the confirmation was made.  The descriptions of the alleged violations in these Counts do not answer these questions.  The ALJ expects that the evidentiary hearing will provide sufficient evidence for the necessary determinations on this issue to be made.
106. Based on the foregoing discussion on this issue, the ALJ declines to enter a declaratory order that, as a matter of law, Staff erred in citing Rasier with violations of Rule 6708(a) and not with violations of Rule 6711 or Rule 6712.
I. Removal of Disqualified Drivers Earlier than Required by the TNC Rules
107. Rasier argues that Staff lacks authority to penalize it under Rule 6708 when Rasier has removed a driver earlier than required by the TNC Rules.  Rasier states that there are certain violations in the Amended CPANs when Rasier obtained the driving history report later than required by Rule 6711(b), but as a result removed the driver before the next annual driving history report.  Raiser argues that in such instances it removed the driver “earlier” than would be required by the next annual report, and that as a matter of law it cannot be liable for violating Rule 6708(a).
  Staff responds that, when Rasier failed to update the driving history report annually, the driver became disqualified by § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., and was ineligible to continue as a driver for Rasier.  Staff argues that each day Rasier was late to check the driver history record, there was a violation of Rule 6711, and each day Rasier permitted the disqualified individual to act as a driver, there was a violation of Rule 6708.
  
108. On this issue, the descriptions of the alleged violations in the remaining Counts of the Amended CPANs do not reveal for which drivers Rasier may have failed to obtain and review driving history reports at least every 12 months, as required by Rule 6711(b).  Because there has been no evidentiary hearing yet, there is no evidence in the record from which the ALJ can determine which Counts are affected by this issue. 

109. Rule 6711(b) requires that, “At least once every 12 months, a TNC shall obtain and review a driving history research report for each driver authorized to use the TNC's digital network.”  Rule 6708(a) contains this prohibition:  “A TNC shall not permit a person to act as a driver unless the person … is not disqualified to drive based on the results of the driving history research report required by rule 6711 or the criminal history record check required by rule 6712.”  (Emphasis added.)  When a TNC fails to update the driving history report annually, as required by Rule 6711(b), the result is no information for the TNC to determine whether the driver is disqualified to continue to be “authorized to use the TNC's digital network,” as required by Rule 6711(b).  Rasier’s argument can be characterized as “no new is good news” – when the TNC fails to obtain and review the annual update, the TNC has no information that the driver is disqualified; Rasier argues the driver should not be disqualified under Rule 6708(a).  
110. Staff argues that, when Rasier failed to update the driving history report annually, the driver became disqualified by § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., and ineligible to continue as a driver for Rasier.  The ALJ disagrees that § 40-10.1-605(4), C.R.S., disqualifies the driver under those circumstances.  Neither does Rule 6708(a) deem the driver disqualified, because a driver’s disqualification by operation of Rule 6708(a) must be based on the results of the driving history research report required by Rule 6711.  In order to construe Rule 6708(a) as Staff does, the ALJ would have to add words to the rule, which the ALJ cannot do.  See Mountain States Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Public Util. Comm’n., supra, 763 P.2d at 1026.
111. If the driver becomes disqualified under § 40-10.1-605(4)(b), C.R.S., during the time after the initial driving history report review but before the annual update, the ALJ agrees that the safety of the public and TNC riders might be endangered by ineligible TNC drivers with no valid driver’s licenses or who have disqualifying moving violations.  That problem, however, must be cured either through an amendment to § 40-10.1-605(4)(b), C.R.S., or an amendment to Rule 6708.  
112. The ALJ will grant the declaratory order requested by Rasier that, if Rasier obtained a driving history research report later than specified in Rule 6711(b), but as a result removed the driver from the network earlier than Rasier would have done had it obtained the report at the time specified by the rule, that conduct violates Rule 6711, but does not violate Rule 6708.  
J. Summary of Rulings on the Petition for Declaratory Order.
113. The ALJ denies Rasier’s request to enter a declaratory order that the Commission exceeded its authority under the TNC Act by imposing through Rule 6711(b) an annual re-check requirement for driving history research reports.

114. The ALJ denies Rasier’s request to enter a declaratory order that the maximum permissible penalty that the TNC Act allows for a violation of Rule 6708 is $1,100.

115. The ALJ denies Rasier’s request to enter a declaratory order that the TNC Act provides for penalties only for the first day on which a driver logs onto the TNC network after a report is required (but not performed).

116. The ALJ denies Rasier’s request to enter a declaratory order that failing to obtain a report violates Rule 6711 (if it is a driver history research report) or Rule 6712 (if it is a criminal record check report), but does not violate Rule 6708. 

117. The ALJ denies Rasier’s request to enter a declaratory order that Rules 6711 and 6712 do not provide for repeated per-day violations, but rather are violated only on the first day on which Rasier allows access without having obtained a required report.  

118. The ALJ grants the declaratory order requested by Rasier that, if Rasier obtained a driving history research report later than specified in Rule 6711(b), but as a result removed the driver from the network earlier than Rasier would have done had it obtained the report at the time specified by the rule, that conduct violates Rule 6711, but does not violate Rule 6708.
119. This Interim Decision removes uncertainties affecting Rasier and Staff with regard to the statutory provisions in the TNC Act and the TNC Rules discussed in this Decision, pursuant to Rule 1304(i), 4 CCR 723-1.  This Proceeding will proceed to hearing pursuant to the procedural schedule adopted in Decision No. R18-0166-I.  This Interim Decision is not a final agency action and is not subject to judicial review.
  

IV. MODIFICATION OF THE DISCOVERY SCHEDULE.
120. Decision No. R18-0512-I modified the adopted procedural schedule to extend the deadline for service of written discovery requests (e.g., Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Requests for Admissions) until July 16, 2018, and the cut-off date for discovery responses to August 20, 2018.  Objections and responses to written discovery requests would remain due ten calendar days after service of the discovery request, subject to modification by agreement of the Parties.    
121. Based on the timing of the issuance of this Interim Decision, the ALJ will sua sponte modify the adopted procedural schedule to extend the deadline for service of written discovery requests (e.g., Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Requests for Admissions) by three weeks, or until August 6, 2018, and the cut-off date for discovery responses will be extended by three weeks, or until September 10, 2018.  Objections and responses to written discovery requests would remain due ten calendar days after service of the discovery request, subject to modification by agreement of the Parties.  The deadline by which all depositions must be concluded will be extended by two weeks, or until September 18, 2018.  
122. The remaining dates in the adopted procedural schedule will not be changed at this time.  
V. ORDER 

A. It Is Ordered That:  

1. The request of Staff of the Public Utilities Commission of the State of Colorado to convert Rasier, LLC’s Petition for Declaratory Order Petition into a Motion for Summary Judgment under Rule 56(h), Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure, is denied.

2. Rasier, LLC’s, Petition for Declaratory Order, filed by Rasier, LLC, on March 23, 2018, is denied in part and granted in part, consistent with the findings, discussion, and conclusions set forth in this Interim Decision.  

3. The adopted procedural schedule shall be modified to extend the deadline for service of written discovery requests (e.g., Interrogatories, Requests for Production, and Requests for Admissions) until August 6, 2018.  The cut-off date for discovery responses shall be extended until September 10, 2018.  Objections and responses to written discovery requests shall remain due ten calendar days after service of the discovery request, subject to modification by agreement of the Parties.  The deadline by which all depositions must be concluded shall be extended until September 18, 2018.
4. The remaining dates in the adopted procedural schedule remain unchanged at this time.

5. This Interim Decision is not a final agency action and is not subject to judicial review.

6. This Decision is effective immediately.
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�  Rule 1304(i)(II), 4 CCR 723-1, states that, “The Commission may issue a declaratory order to terminate a controversy or to remove an uncertainty affecting a petitioner with regard to any tariff, statutory provision, or Commission rule, regulation, or order.”  Rule 1304(i)(III), 4 CCR 723-1, states that, “At its discretion, the Commission may grant, deny, or dismiss any petition seeking a declaratory order.”  


�  The Commission first adopted temporary TNC rules, pursuant to §§ 24-4-103(6) and 40-2-108(2), C.R.S.  The temporary rules implemented an application process for TNCs, required TNC’s to provide necessary information before the Commission issued a permit, and adopted safety standards applicable to TNCs and their drivers.  See Decision No. C14-0773 (mailed on July 8, 2014) in Docket No. 14R-0737TR.


�  See Decision No. C14-1246 (mailed on October 17, 2014) in Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR.  


�  See Submission of Group Consensus Proposed Rules, Attachment A page 7, filed on January 6, 2015, in Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR.  The only difference between the proposed language and the permanent Rule 6711(b) is that the permanent adopted Rule 6711(b) added the following sentence:  “The driving history research report shall include at a minimum any moving violation in the United States for the preceding three-year period.”  


�  See Decision No. R15-0223 (mailed on March 10, 2015) and Attachment A in Proceeding �No. 14M-1014TR.  Pursuant to Rule 1501(c) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1, the ALJ takes administrative notice of the Submission of Group Consensus Proposed Rules filed by Rasier, as well as Decision Nos. C14-1246 and R15-0223 in Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR.  


�  See Decision No. C15-0407 (mailed on April 30, 2015), ¶ I.C.11 at page 4, and Attachment A in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Decision No. C15-0407, ¶ I.A.1 at page 1, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  The Consensus Group included a “reservation of rights” (Fn. 1 at page 1) by stating that the Stipulated Rules were submitted “without prejudice to advocate for [a] different position/rule in the event that the Commission does not adopt a group stipulated proposed rule as set forth herein.”  


�   See Stipulated Rules Submission Letter filed on July 31, 2015, and Attachment A at pages 6, 7-8, and 15-16, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR; and Joint Statement of Position filed on August 21, 2015 at page 1.  


�  See Decision No. R15-0985, ¶¶ II.E.45 at pages 12 and 13 (6708); II.G.101 at page 28 (6712); II.O.192 at page 54; and Attachment B, pages 6, 7, 8, 16, 17, and 18, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Limited Exceptions of Rasier, LLC, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR, pages 1 through 5. 


�  Id., page 6.


�  Decision No. C15-1201, ¶¶ I.C.10 through 13 at pages 3 and 4; in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Decision No. C15-1201, ¶¶ I.C.21 through 23 at pages 7 and 8; in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Compare Decision No. C15-1201, Attachment A pages 6, 8, and 16 through 18, with Stipulated Rules Submission Letter filed on July 31, 2015, and its Attachment A at pages 6, 7-8, and 15-16, in Proceeding �No. 15R-0250TR; and Joint Statement of Position filed on August 21, 2015 at page 1.  


�  Transcript, 5/8/2018, page 18, lines 1 – 4.  


�  Copies of these documents in the Commission’s files for Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR can be admitted into evidence at the evidentiary hearing in this Proceeding, pursuant to Rule 1501(c) of the Rules of Practice and Procedure, 4 CCR 723-1.  


�  Rasier’s Petition for Declaratory Order was filed before Staff filed Amended CPAN No. 119221 on May 31, 2018.  Staff has not amended CPAN No. 120466.  Rasier’s legal arguments refer to both originally filed “CPANS” in this Consolidated Proceeding.  For the sake of accuracy and clarity, this Decision will refer to Amended CPAN No. 119221 and CPAN No. 120466 as the “Amended CPANs,” except when necessary to discuss them individually. 


�  The remainder of § 40-7-116, C.R.S., addresses the contents of CPANs and the CPAN process.   


�  Staff’s Response, pages 1 – 3.


�  See also § 24-4-105(11), C.R.S., quoted in Fn. 1 on page 2 of this Decision, which also contains no such requirement.  


�  Staff’s Response, page 3.


�  Rasier’s Reply, Fn. 1, page 2.


�  Snook v. Joyce Homes, Inc., 215 P.3d 1210, 1218 (Colo. App. 2009).  


�  Western Innovations, Inc. et al. v. Sonitrol Corporation, 187 P.3d 1155, 1158 (Colo. App. 2008).  


�  Western Innovations, Inc. et al. v. Sonitrol Corporation, supra, 187 P.3d at 1158.  


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 3, 13 through 18.  


�  Decision No. C15-0407, ¶ I.A.1 at page 1, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Decision No. C15-1201, ¶ I.A.1 at page 1, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 5 and 22; Rasier’s Reply, page 5.  


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 2, 9, 14 through 18; Rasier’s Reply, pages 5 through 9. 


�  The first sentence of § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., paraphrases § 40-10.1-117, C.R.S., which was added by Senate Bill 14-125 and states that, “Notwithstanding any other provision of law, transportation network companies, as defined in section 40-10.1-602 (3), are governed exclusively under part 6 of this article.”  Rasier does not rely on § 40-10.1-117, C.R.S.  Reading the whole statutory scheme in Senate Bill 14-125 together to reach a consistent, harmonious, sensible, and non-absurd result, the ALJ concludes that § 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., modifies and explains the meaning of § 40-10.1-117, C.R.S.  


�  Section 40-1-102(3)(b), C.R.S., exempts TNCs from the definition of common carrier and �§ 40-10.1-101(10), C.R.S., exempts TNCs from the definition of motor carrier.  The ALJ’s interpretation of �§ 40-10.1-603, C.R.S., is entirely consistent with the Legislature’s exemption of TNCs from those definitions.  


�   See Decision No. C14-1246, ¶ I.C.8, page 3, in Proceeding No. 14M-1014TR.  


�  The first sentence of Stipulated Rule 6711(b) stated, “At least every 12 months, a TNC shall obtain and review a driving history research report for each driver authorized to use the TNC’s digital network.”  


�   Rasier’s Reply, pages 22 and 23.


�  This finding is not based on concepts of waiver or estoppel.  This finding is based on common sense.  While Rasier is not prohibited as a matter of law from making these arguments, its rule-making advocacy cannot be ignored and is one factor to be considered in ruling on this issue.  


�  See also Decision No. C15-0517-I, Fn. 2, Page 4 (mailed on June 1, 2015) in Proceeding �No. 15M-0158T, warning against a collateral attack on Rule 2843(c), 4 CCR 723-2, adopted by the Commission in Decision No. C12-1442 (mailed on December 17, 2012) in Proceeding No. 12R-862T, in a subsequent proceeding.  


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 18 through 20; Staff Response, pages 13 and 14; Rasier’s Reply, pages 9 through 12. 


�  Decision No. C15-0407, ¶ I.A.1 at page 1, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Decision No. C15-1201, ¶ I.A.1 at page 1, in Proceeding No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Transcript, 5/8/2018, page 42 line 15 – page 43 line 8.  


�  See Decision No. R15-0985, ¶¶ II.O.45 at pages 53 and 54 and Attachment B at pages 16 through 18; and Decision No. C`5-1201 at pages 1 through 9 and Attachment A at pages 16 through 18, in Proceeding �No. 15R-0250TR.  


�  Rasier’s Reply, pages 22 and 23.


�  Before permitting a person to act as a driver on its digital network, these statutes require that the TNC shall:  (1) “confirm that the person possesses a valid driver’s license” (§40-10.1-605(1)(a)(I), C.R.S.); (2) “obtain a criminal history record check” (§ 40-10.1-605(3)(a)(I), C.R.S.); and (3) “obtain and review a driving history research report for the individual” (§ 40-10.1-605(4)(a), C.R.S.).  


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 20 through 22. 


�  Staff Response, pages 15 through 17. 


�  Rasier’s Reply, pages 12 and 13. 


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 23 through 25. 


�  Staff Response, pages 9, 13, and 14. 


�  Rasier’s Reply, pages 9 through 12. 


�  Petition for Declaratory Order, pages 28 through 28. 


�  Staff Response, page 17. 


�  See § 24-4-105(11), C.R.S., which provides that:  “Every agency shall provide by rule for the entertaining, in its sound discretion, and prompt disposition of petitions for declaratory orders to terminate controversies or to remove uncertainties as to the applicability to the petitioners of any statutory provision or of any rule or order of the agency.  The order disposing of the petition shall constitute agency action subject to judicial review.”  However, an order disposing of a petition for a declaratory order under § 24-4-105(11), C.R.S., is subject to judicial review only when the order constitutes final agency action.  Chittenden v. Bd. of Soc. Work Examiners, 292 P.3d 1138 (Colo. App. 2012).  See § 24-4-106(2). This Interim Decision does not constitute final agency action, (Rule 1502, 4 CCR 723-1) and it is not subject to judicial review pursuant to § 40-6-115, C.R.S.
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